BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ST. DOMINIC-JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2011-SA-7

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND MADISON HMA, INC. D/B/A MADISON RIVER OAKS HOSPITAL

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, ST. DOMINIC-JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Appeal from the Madison County Chancery Court

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Ed Brunini, Jr., R. Richard Cirilli, Jr., R. Richard Cirilli, Jr., R. Jonathan R. Werne, M. BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC Post Office Drawer 119
Jackson, MS 39205
Telephone: 601-948-3101

Facsimile: 601-960-6902

Counsel for Appellant, St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hospital

BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- (1) Whether St. Dominic's CON Application is a relocation of a portion of a health care facility as contemplated under section 41-7-191(1)(b) of the Mississippi Code.
- (2) Whether St. Dominic's CON Application complies with the specific need criteria for a relocation of a portion of a health care facility detailed in the State Health Plan ("SHP").
- (3) Whether St. Dominic's CON Application complies with the specific need criteria for the proposed institution of obstetrical services as set forth in the State Health Plan.
- (4) Whether St. Dominic's CON Application complies with the General Review Criteria as set forth in the Mississippi Certificate of Need Review Manual ("CON Review Manual").

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 1, 2008, St. Dominic filed a Certificate of Need ("CON") application ("CON Application") requesting authority to relocate 65 licensed general acute care beds (in actual operation) from its main campus in Jackson, Mississippi ("Jackson Campus") to a new campus in Madison County, Mississippi ("Madison Campus"), construction of a facility to house those beds and a medical office building, mobile Magnetic Resonance Imaging ("MRI") services and the relocation of six licensed and operational general acute care beds for obstetric services. (Hrg. Ex. 2, CON App., pp. 8-10). In February 2009, the Mississippi State Department of Health ("Department") rendered its staff analysis which recommended disapproval of St. Dominic's CON Application ("Staff Analysis"). (Hrg. Ex. 3). The Department's staff determined that the project was in essence a "new" hospital, not a true relocation, and therefore it would have to meet the specific need criteria for the establishment of a general acute care hospital (and not the specific need criteria for the relocation of a portion of a health care facility). (Hrg. Ex. 3, pp. 4-5). The Staff Analysis found that the CON Application met the General Review Criteria ("GRC") in the CON Review Manual, and all of the adopted rules, procedures and plans of the

Department. (Hrg. Ex. 3, pp. 10-15). The Staff Analysis did not opine negatively in relation to mobile MRI services, or to the medical office building component, but did state that the specific need criteria for the provision of obstetrical services were not met. (Hrg. Ex. 3, pp. 7-10).

At the end of the Staff Analysis, the Staff stated the following as the basis for disapproval of the CON Application: "Although the statute allows the relocation of a health care facility or portion thereof, the Applicant admits that no services will be eliminated or reduced at the Jackson campus. Therefore, the project was reviewed as the construction of an acute care facility in Madison County." (Hrg. Ex. 3, p. 17). Since the proposed project was for the construction of a new acute care facility, "[t]he methodology set out in the 2009 State Health Plan for determining need for a hospital in a county with an existing hospital does not support the addition of a new hospital." (Hrg. Ex. 3, p. 17).

Madison HMA, Inc., the operator of a 67-bed hospital located in Canton, opposed St. Dominic's CON Application. An administrative hearing was conducted at the request of St. Dominic and Madison HMA on the CON Application on February 4-5, 8-11, 17-18 and 25, 2010. At the hearing, each party was represented by counsel and was afforded the opportunity to present evidence and testimony in support of their respective positions. In addition, the public was invited and many statements from both sides of the controversy were heard.

On August 2, 2010, the Administrative Hearing Officer issued an opinion recommending that St. Dominic's CON Application be disapproved. (R.E. 3). On August 26, 2010, the State Health Officer concurred with the Hearing Officer's findings and recommendation. On September 7, 2010, pursuant to section 41-7-201(2)(b) of the Mississippi Code, St. Dominic appealed the State Health Officer's Final Order to the Madison County Chancery Court. (Trial Docket, p. 1). On December 22, 2010, the Madison County Chancery Court affirmed the decision of the Department disapproving St. Dominic's CON Application (R.E. 2). On

December 29, 2010, St. Dominic appealed the decision of the Madison County Chancery Court to the Mississippi Supreme Court. (Trial Docket, pp. 240-41).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

St. Dominic's CON Application can be divided into four parts: (1) Component I involves the relocation of 65 licensed and operational general acute care beds and related ancillary and support services and construction of a facility to house the relocated beds (Hg. Ex. 2, CON App., pp. 8-9); (2) Component II involves the construction of a 60,000 square feet medical office building (*Id.* at 9); (3) Component III involves the institution of mobile MRI services (*Id.* at p. 9); and (4) Component IV involves the institution of a new obstetrical service including the relocation of six licensed and operational general acute care beds (*Id.* at 9-10). If Component I is not approved, St. Dominic will not pursue the other components. (*Id.* at 8-10). If Component I is approved, the other components must be examined individually in light of the applicable specific need criteria for those components. The failure to approve Component II, III or IV would not prohibit St. Dominic from pursing Component I.

St. Dominic's CON Application proposes a new satellite campus in Madison County, designated as the St. Dominic Madison Campus, immediately north of the current city limits of the City of Madison, to house the four listed component parts. (Hrg. Ex. 2, CON App., pp. 7-10; Hrg. Ex. 20-21). As part of the CON Application, St. Dominic will relocate existing employees and equipment to the new satellite campus in Madison County. (T. 233, 237-38, 240). The proposed facility will be located on a site with direct access from Parkway East, a four-lane divided parkway that commences close to the intersection of I-55 and MS Highway 463, running north and terminating on Gluckstadt Road near the I-55 Gluckstadt Interchange. (Hrg. Ex. 2, CON App., p. 48, Ex. III.B.6.3.e; Hrg. Exs. 20-21). The proposed location is approximately twelve miles from the main campus of St. Dominic. (T. 735, 760).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

St. Dominic is requesting CON authority to relocate up to 71¹ existing licensed and operating general acute care beds and related ancillary and support services associated with general acute care services to a new satellite campus in Madison County, immediately north of the current city limits of the City of Madison and in close proximity to Interstate 55. (Hrg. Ex. 2, CON App., pp. 8-9). The ultimate question for this Court is whether St. Dominic's proposed CON Application is a true relocation of beds as opposed to a "new hospital."

Without question, Mississippi law provides for the relocation of a health care facility or portion thereof from one physical location to another. See Miss. Code § 41-7-191(1)(b) (Hrg. Ex. 5). The Department has defined "[a] portion of a health care facility . . . to be a wing, unit, service(s) or beds." (Hrg. Ex. 6)(emphasis added). The provision for relocation of beds is a health planning tool that allows the Department under precise statutory authority to redistribute beds within a service area when those beds are inappropriately clustered in a limited area. (T. 613). In the past, the Mississippi Supreme Court criticized the relocation of "phantom" beds (i.e., beds that a hospital is licensed to utilize, but are not in actual operation) as not a "true relocation" of a health care facility. See St. Dominic-Jackson Mem'l Hosp. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 728 So. 2d 81, 84-85 (Miss. 1998) (the "Methodist Opinion"). Here, St. Dominic is not relocating so-called "phantom" beds. Instead, St. Dominic proposes to relocate 71 licensed and operational acute care beds: As testified by St. Dominic's Executive Vice President of Operations, Lester Diamond, "[i]n this application, we are asking permission to relocate 71 beds that are set up and operational." (T. 232-33)(emphasis added).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has also previously held that a relocated health care facility (when considering the ordinary sense of the word, "relocation") should be staffed with

¹ Component I involves the relocation of 65 beds and Component IV involves the relocation six beds, for a total of 71 general acute care beds to be relocated. (Hrg. Ex. 2, CON App., pp. 8-9).

existing medical workers and outfitted with relocated medical equipment, rather than new medical workers and equipment. See Methodist, 728 So. 2d at 85; St. Dominic-Madison Co. Med. Ctr. v. Madison Co. Med. Ctr., 928 So. 2d 822, 829 (Miss. 2006) (the "St. Catherine's Opinion"). Here, St. Dominic proposes to relocate existing employees and equipment to the satellite campus in Madison County. Again, Mr. Diamond testified, "[i]n this application, we are indicating that we will relocate the appropriate equipment and appropriate positions necessary to take care of the 71 beds once they are approved." (T. 233)(emphasis added) Accordingly, St. Dominic's proposed project is a true relocation project.

St. Dominic's CON Application is very similar to a project by Forrest General Hospital ("FGH") recently affirmed by the Mississippi Supreme Court as a true relocation project. (Hrg. Exs. 44, 47, 49). Three years prior to St. Dominic's CON Application, FGH filed a CON application to establish a new freestanding satellite facility through the relocation of 30 existing licensed and operational general acute care² beds. (Hrg. Ex. 44, p. 2). FGH proposed to relocate existing staff and equipment to the new freestanding satellite. (Hrg. Ex. 44, p. 8).

FGH's project is similar to St. Dominic's CON Application in virtually every aspect – including the same Hearing Officer that presided over both applications. Despite these similarities, the same Hearing Officer that approved FGH's CON application as a "true relocation" disapproved St. Dominic's CON Application as a "new hospital." Neither the Hearing Officer nor the Department explained how one application could be approved as a "true relocation" but the other one not. Mississippi law requires state agencies, such as the Department, to "either conform to [their] prior norms and decisions or explain the reason for [their] departure from such precedent." *Miss. Methodist Hosp. & Rehab. Ctr., Inc. v. Miss. Div.*

² Although FGH sought to relocate thirty "orthopedic beds," there is no such category of beds (as confirmed by the Department) under the CON Law, SHP or CON Review Manual; instead, they are "general acute care beds." (T. 130-31). This is simply a label placed on the beds by FGH.

of Medicaid, Inc., 21 So. 3d 600, 609 (Miss. 2009) (citation omitted). Here, the Department neither conformed to its prior norm when examining St. Dominic's CON Application nor explained the reason for its departure from such precedent and thus, committed reversible error.

CON applications must also be reviewed by the Department for compliance with the GRC of the CON Review Manual and any specific need criteria of the SHP which are applicable to the application under consideration. (Hrg. Ex. 16). Although the GRC are the same for every CON project, the specific need criteria applicable to the establishment of new hospital is entirely different from the relocation of a health care facility or portion thereof. (Hrg. Ex. 8). Although St. Dominic's CON Application met the Department's definition of a relocation under the CON Review Manual, the Department erroneously reviewed St. Dominic's CON Application under the specific need criteria applicable to the establishment of a new hospital. Accordingly, the Department, again, committed reversible error in not reviewing St. Dominic's CON Application under the specific need criteria applicable to the relocation of a portion of a health care facility.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of review of an appeal of a final order of the Department is controlled by section 41-7-201(2)(f) of the Mississippi Code, which provides in part:

[t]he order shall not be vacated or set aside, either in whole or in part, except for errors of law, unless the court finds that the order... is not supported by substantial evidence, is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, is in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the [Department], or violates any vested constitutional rights of any party involved in the appeal.

Although the Department is afforded deference in its decisions, deference is by no means a "rubber stamp." Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Baptist Mem'l Hosp.-Desoto, Inc., 984 So. 2d 967, 975 (Miss. 2008)(citation omitted). The Department cannot be relieved of its "duty under the statute to review the project for need pursuant to any applicable service specific requirements

Review Manual." *Methodist*, 728 So. 2d at 84. "[W]here an administrative agency errs as a matter of law, courts of competent jurisdiction should not hesitate to intervene." *Baptist Mem'l Hosp.-Desoto, Inc.*, 984 So. 2d at 975 (quoting *Grant Ctr. Hosp. of Miss., Inc. v. Health Group of Jackson, Inc.*, 528 So. 2d 804, 808 (Miss. 1988)). The court should "not defer to an agency's interpretation of the statute when that interpretation is repugnant to the best reading thereof." *Grant Ctr. Hosp. of Miss., Inc.*, 528 So. 2d at 808.

If the Department's "decision is not based on substantial evidence, it necessarily follows that the decision is arbitrary and capricious." *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp.*, 743 So. 2d 973, 977 (Miss. 1999). Its decision is considered arbitrary "when it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on the will alone." *Natchez Cmty. Hosp.*, 743 So. 2d at 977 (citing *Burks v. Amite County Sch. Dist.*, 708 So. 2d 1366, 1370 (Miss. 1998)); *see also Attala County Board of Supervisors v. Miss. State Dep't of Health*, 867 So. 2d 1019, 1024 (Miss. 2004)(holding "[a]n act is arbitrary when it is done without adequately determining principle . . . absolute in power, tyrannical, despotic, non-rational,-implying either a lack of understanding of or a disregard for the fundamental nature of things.")(citation omitted). Its decision is considered "capricious if done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles." *Id.* (citing *Burks*, 708 So. 2d at 1370).

As set forth below in more detail, the Department failed, among other things, to apply the proper definition of relocation and the appropriate specific relocation criteria to St. Dominic's CON Application. In addition, the Department failed to conform to its prior norm in examining St. Dominic's CON Application or explain why it elected not to approve St. Dominic's CON Application when it had recently approved a similar CON application. For these reasons, among

others set forth herein, the Department committed reversible error. Accordingly, the Department's decision fails as a matter of law and this Court should reverse the Final Order disapproving St. Dominic's CON Application.

II. THE DEPARTMENT ERRED IN FINDING ST. DOMINIC'S CON APPLICATION AS THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A NEW HOSPITAL.

The overriding issue in this appeal is whether St. Dominic's CON Application proposes the establishment of a "new hospital," as opposed to a true relocation of beds from its main campus to Madison County. The Department found that the project constituted the construction of a new hospital. The Department's finding that the proposed project is a new hospital is erroneous, and should therefore be reversed, for at least three reasons. First, the Department's ruling is contrary to the CON Law (*i.e.*, Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-171, *et seq.*). as well as the CON Review Manual, both of which clearly allow for the relocation of a portion of health care facility (and specifically, the relocation of beds) if an applicant can demonstrate the requisite need. Second, the Department misinterpreted and therefore, misapplied prior decisions by the Mississippi Supreme Court as the basis for its decision that the proposed Madison campus is a new hospital and not a true relocation. Finally, the Department's ruling in this case is arbitrary and capricious because it is inconsistent with the Department's decisions in prior cases involving almost identical facts and issues.

A. THE APPLICATION MEETS DEFINTION OF RELOCATION UNDER CON LAWS AND CON REVIEW MANUAL.

Unless certain exceptions are met, section 41-7-191 of the Mississippi Code requires a certificate of need for "[t]he relocation of a health care facility or portion thereof" Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-191(1)(b). (Hrg. Ex. 5). Although subsection (b) appears to be very straightforward – a certificate of need is required to relocate a health care facility or a portion of a health care facility – it has been the subject of many hotly-contested lawsuits and decisions

from the Mississippi Supreme Court. Litigants and the courts have wrestled over the words used in the subsection: What does it mean for a health care facility to "relocate"? What constitutes a portion of a health care facility? What must be left of the original health care facility once a portion of it has been relocated? Can the health care facility or portion thereof be relocated to a newly-constructed building? Neither subsection (b) nor the rest of the CON Law answers these important questions.

1. St. Dominic's CON Application Meets The Department's Definition Of "Relocation."

Through its statutorily-given authority,³ the Department has answered many of these important questions. Chapter 2, section 100.03 of the CON Review Manual restates subsection (b) and provides that no person shall engage in "[t]he relocation of a health care facility or portion thereof" without obtaining a certificate of need. (Hrg. Ex 6). In a note⁴ in section 100.03, the CON Review Manual defines terms not otherwise defined in subsection (b) or the CON Law. *Id.* "The relocation of a health care facility is defined as the relocation of a health care facility from one physical location or site to another." (Hrg. Ex 6). The note further states: "A portion of a health care facility is considered to be a wing, unit, service(s) *or beds*." *Id.* (emphasis added). Taking these notes collectively, the Department, using its statutory authority, has interpreted subsection (b) to allow the relocation of beds from one physical location or site to another. This is exactly what St. Dominic is proposing in its CON Application: St. Dominic is requesting authority to relocate 71 beds from one physical location (its Jackson Campus) to

\$0009854

³ One of the functions of the Department is to "[p]rescribe and promulgate such reasonable rules and regulations as may be necessary to the implementation of the purposes of" the CON Law. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-185(c). The Mississippi Supreme Court "has generally accorded great deference to an administrative agency's construction of its own rules and regulations and the statutes under which it operates." Baptist Mem'l Hosp.-Desoto, Inc., 984 So. 2d at 981 (citation omitted).

⁴ The Department added this note to the CON Review Manual in 1994. (R.E. 5). Prior to 1994, the CON Review Manual simply restated subsection (b) without any further explanation. (R.E. 4).

⁵ The disjunctive "or" also makes it clear that an applicant pursuant to section 100.03 of the CON Review Manual can relocate just beds or services, or relocate both beds and services.

another (the new Madison Campus). St. Dominic's CON Application, on its face, plainly meets the Department's interpretation of subsection (b) in the CON Review Manual. There is no other way to apply the Department's interpretation of subsection (b) to St. Dominic's CON Application. But yet, the Department knowingly elected to ignore its own interpretation of subsection (b) and apply an unrelated subsection of the CON Law regarding the relocation of a health service to St. Dominic's CON Application. (Hrg. Ex. 3, p. 5; T. 25).

2. The CON Application Meets the Definition of "Relocation" in the Ordinary Sense.

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