IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ST. DOMINIC-JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2011-SA-00007

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and MADISON HMA, LLC d/b/a Madison River **Oaks Hospital**

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE MADISON CHANCERY COURT

BRIEF FOR APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

OF COUNSEL:

Thomas L. Kirkland, Jr.

Allison C. Simpson (Andy Lowry (

COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A.

Post Office Box 6020

Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158

Telephone: Facsimile:

601.856.7200

601.856.8242

Counsel for Madison HMA, LLC

Bea Tolsdorf (Mass

Special Assistant Attorneys General

OFFICE OF LEGAL COUNSEL

Mississippi State Department of Health

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In 1998, St. Dominic obtained this Court's ruling that a "relocation" which in reality amounts to building a new hospital must be adjudged by the need criteria for a new hospital, not by any reduced standard of need. Adhering to that ruling, the State Health Officer found substantial evidence that St. Dominic's present Application seeks to build a new hospital in Madison County. That decision is entitled to great deference and is not contradicted by the Department's earlier ruling in the case of Forrest General Hospital, which relocated its orthopedic surgery services and thus did not create a "new hospital" under the guise of a relocation.

Once the Department applied the State Health Plan's need criteria for St. Dominic's new hospital in a county already having a hospital, it was evident that no new hospital is needed. This finding, based on substantial evidence and on the Department's best reading of the Plan it promulgates, is likewise entitled to great deference.

The State Health Officer also found that the new hospital proposed for Madison County would duplicate existing services and would not promote the important goal of cost containment. Therefore, the Application did not comply with the State Health Plan's general considerations for CON review. Nor did the project for a new hospital comply with several of the CON Manual's general review criteria. St. Dominic's proposal for obstetric beds also was not based on substantial evidence and did not meet the relevant criteria.

The State Health Officer found that the Application did not meet the need criteria and would set a damaging precedent if granted. Her decision was in accordance with the precedents set by this Court and amply warrants affirmance.

ARGUMENT

The issue before this Court is whether the State Health Officer's Final Order disapproving St. Dominic's CON application was supported by substantial evidence and in compliance with the CON law. The CON Law requires that a CON

shall not be granted or issued to any person for any proposal, cause or reason, unless the proposal has been reviewed for consistency with the specifications and the criteria established by the State Department of Health and substantially complies with the projection of need as reported in the state health plan in effect at the time the application for the proposal was submitted.

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-193(1). "Need" therefore is defined objectively as what the State Health Plan defines it to be. In the present case, the State Health Officer ruled that the Application was effectively for a new hospital and that it did not meet the Plan's projection of need for such a facility. St. Dominic's appeal rests on asking this Court to second-guess the State Health Officer and to rule that its new Madison hospital would not really be a hospital after all.

The scope of review of an appeal of a final order from the Department is controlled by statute:

[t]he [Final] Order shall not be vacated or set aside, either in whole or in part, except for errors of law, unless the Court finds that the Order is not supported by substantial evidence, is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, is in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the [Department], or violates any vested constitutional rights of any party involved in the appeal . . .

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f). Insofar as this appeal concerns questions of law, those are reviewed de novo by the courts. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f); *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp.*, 743 So. 2d 973, 976 (Miss. 1999).

The State Health Officer's decision "is afforded great deference upon judicial review." St. Dominic-Jackson Mem'l Hosp. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 728 So. 2d 81, 83 (Miss. 1998) (quoting Miss. Dept. of Health v. S. W. Miss. Reg'l Hosp., 580 S. 2d 1238, 1240 (Miss. 1991). This "great deference" creates a presumption in favor of the State Health Officer's decision. Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr., 663 So. 2d 563, 579 (Miss. 1995). The courts likewise extend "great deference to the agency's interpretation of its own rules and statutes which govern its operation." Elec. Data Sys. Corp. v. Miss. Div. of Medicaid, 853 So. 2d 1192, 1202 (Miss. 2003).

The State Health Officer, as the finder of fact, is free to choose between two conflicting positions, if each is supported by substantial, credible evidence. *Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr.*, 687 So. 2d 1221, 1224-25 (Miss. 1997). This evidence need only be "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Dearman*, 846 So. 2d 1014, 1017 (Miss. 2003). In other words, a decision supported by "any evidence" is not arbitrary and capricious. *Slay v. Spell*, 882 So. 2d 254, 257 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004); *see Gill v. Miss. Dep't of Wildlife Conserv.*, 574 So. 2d 586, 591 (Miss. 1990) ("any evidence" standard part of "familiar posture of judicial review of administrative processes").

A decision which is "fairly debatable" as to its correctness is not arbitrary and capricious. Falco Lime, Inc. v. Mayor & Aldermen of City of Vicksburg, 836 So. 2d 711, 721 (Miss. 2002). The State Health Officer's Final Order need only have relied upon "substantial" evidence, i.e., "more than a scintilla or a suspicion" to be upheld. Natchez Cmty., 743 So. 2d at 976.

"Therefore, if the evidence is there, the decision stands even though the Chancellor or this Court might have made a different decision." United Cement Co. v. Safe Air for the Env't, Inc., 558 So. 2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990). The court cannot "substitute its judgment for that of the agency or reweigh the facts of the case." Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Mid-South Assocs., LLC, 25 So. 3d 358, 360 (Miss. 2009) (quoting His Way Homes, Inc. v. Miss. Gaming Comm'n, 733 So. 2d 764, 767 (Miss. 1999)). Findings of credibility are for the agency, not for the appellate courts, to make, where substantial evidence appears in the record. Boyles v. Miss. State Oil & Gas Bd., 794 So. 2d 149, 156-57 (Miss. 2001).

The standard of review ultimately derives from the separation of powers: the judicial branch usurps the powers of the executive when courts reverse agency decisions for reasons other than errors of law or conduct that is arbitrary and capricious. *Miss. State Tax Comm'n v. Miss.-Ala. State Fair*, 222 So. 2d 664, 665-66 (Miss. 1969).

I. The State Health Officer Correctly Applied a "New Hospital" Standard.

Because of the deference afforded to the Final Order and the limited circumstances which allow the reversal of that Final Order, St. Dominic has a heavy burden to meet before the Court can reverse the State Health Officer's decision. The Department's staff found in their review of the Application that the proposed project did not comply with the State Health Plan, the CON Manual, or the rules and procedures of the Department. R.E. 8. After considering nine days of testimony, thirty-one live witnesses, seven witnesses whose prior testimony was admitted as recorded exhibits, and eighty-eight recorded exhibits (not including some merely proffered), along with

the parties' proposed findings of fact, the hearing officer also concluded that St. Dominic's Application failed to comply with the State Health Plan, CON Manual and rules and regulations of the Department. R.E. 3. The State Health Officer agreed, and now St. Dominic asks this Court to reverse that decision.

A. The Application Sought a New Hospital, Not Just a "Relocation."

The starting point for reviewing this project is determining whether the State Health Officer's classification of St. Dominic's proposed Madison hospital as a new general acute care hospital (versus the "relocation" of a health care facility or portion thereof) was correct and supported by substantial evidence. The answer to this question determines which State Health Plan criteria St. Dominic's Application must comply with to be approved. This Court has previously considered attempts by health care facilities to establish new facilities and/or services under the guise of a relocation, and the State Health Officer's review of the Application compared to those cases was appropriate.

1. "What the Project Actually Is" Is a New Hospital.

This Court has directed the Department and courts regarding the determination of when a proposed health care facility is a new facility versus a relocated one. *St. Dominic*, 728 So. 2d at 85 (Miss. 1998). Regarding the proposed new hospital in *St. Dominic*, this Court stated,

The North Campus project [the new hospital] does not constitute a 'relocation' in any ordinary sense of the word. The record is clear that a completely new building was constructed in northeast Jackson, and this building has been staffed with new medical workers and new equipment. There was no corresponding decrease in services at the main hospital in south Jackson, and ... the facility is, for all practical purposes, a new hospital.

Id. (emphasis added). This Court reiterated in St. Dominic's 2003 attempt to relocate beds to St. Catherine's Village in Madison. *St. Dominic-Madison*, 928 So. 2d 822. In affirming the chancellor, this Court quoted part of the chancellor's holding regarding that application.

As in St. Dominic, a completely new building is proposed for construction in Madison County, in fact, the project contemplated in this case is contemplated to cost nine million dollars more than the project at issue in St. Dominic. Further, this new building will be staffed with new medical workers and new equipment, rather than transferred employees and equipment from the Jackson facility. Also, there will be no corresponding decrease in services at the Jackson hospital. Therefore, this Court can only find that the proposed St. Dominic hospital in Madison is, for all practical purposes, a new hospital. ... [And] our Supreme Court has previously [stated] that "the showing of need must be commensurate to what the project actually is and the impact which it actually has on the Jackson health care market. . . ."

Id. at 826 (emphasis altered). Also supporting the conclusion that a new hospital was proposed in *St. Dominic-Madison*, this Court found that not only would a new building be constructed, with new medical workers and new equipment, but also the new facility would offer surgery, high-level imaging services, full time nursing care, rehabilitation and physical therapy, pharmacy, laboratories and Level IV emergency services. *Id.* at 829. These are services which the Application proposes the new hospital would provide. Ex. 2 at 9-10.

St. Dominic has conceded in its brief that the "satellite campus," as it repeatedly calls its desired Madison County facility, will be for all intents and purposes a new hospital: "The relocated facility in Madison County, Mississippi will provide the same health services (i.e., inpatient acute care services) as St. Dominic's Jackson Campus." Brief at 16. All right then: the "Jackson Campus" is a *hospital*, and thus, a facility that

provides the "same health services (i.e., inpatient acute care services)" will be a *hospital* too. That seems dispositive. Likewise: "a relocated portion of a hospital is just like the original hospital — but on a smaller scale." Brief at 16. In other words, it's a hospital.

In any event, the State Health Officer (in adopting the hearing officer's Recommendation) certainly had substantial evidence to support her findings and conclusions, based on the positions, equipment, building, and services at the new facility.

Positions: Similar to the project proposed in St. Dominic-Madison, Diamond testified he did not know which positions would be needed at the new hospital, and he could not specify any employees who would be assigned to the new hospital. Tr. 238-39. St. Dominic's own expert in CON and health planning, Ron Luke ("Luke"), testified "there's no doubt" that some number of additional positions will be added due to the new hospital. Tr. 561. St. Dominic's Application also failed to specify employees who would relocate to the new hospital, stating only that employees would be assigned to either "campus" as needed. Ex. 2 at 11. The addition of new staff at a proposed facility is a relevant factor as to whether a new hospital is proposed. St. Dominic, 728 So. 2d at 85; St. Dominic-Madison, 928 So. 2d at 826. There was substantial evidence, from both testimony and St. Dominic's sworn Application, from which the State Health Officer could reasonably find that the facility would be staffed with new personnel.

Equipment: Also like the project in St. Dominic-Madison, the Application proposed all-new equipment, stating that "Relatively little existing equipment will be available to be moved from the Jackson hospital to the Madison hospital. Regardless of whether new or existing furniture or equipment is placed at the Madison hospital from

the Jackson hospital, a *substantial amount* of new furniture and equipment will be purchased." Ex. 2 at 12 (emphasis added). The Application also stated that "New beds and related equipment will ultimately have to be purchased whether they are placed at the Madison or Jackson campuses." Ex. 2 at 25. Diamond tried to rehabilitate the Application by testifying St. Dominic would try to move equipment to the new facility as appropriate, but the hospital has not identified any pieces of equipment to move. Tr. 240, 332. In any event, like every CON application, the Application was filed under oath, and the hearing officer was not obliged to find Diamond more credible.

Significantly, Luke's e-mail to Dan Isengole, the person in charge of projecting equipment needs at the new hospital, and to Paul Arrington with St. Dominic, stated that Isengole was to "assume acquisition of all required furniture and equipment" without "F&E [(furniture & equipment)] relocated from the Main Campus." Tr. 708-09; Ex. 51. Again, the purchase of new equipment for the to-be-constructed facility is relevant to whether a new hospital is being constructed. St. Dominic, 728 So. 2d at 85; St. Dominic-Madison, 928 So. 2d at 826. There was substantial evidence, from both the sworn Application and testimony, from which the State Health Officer could reasonably conclude that the new facility would be set up wholly or in large part with new equipment, furniture, and fixtures.

Building & services: Finally, the Application proposed to construct a new hospital building. Luke agreed the new building, which would have a cost comparable to a new hospital, would hold general acute care beds and be entitled to provide the services listed at Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-173(k), diagnostic services, therapeutic services and care under the supervision of physicians, with "many of the same capabilities of any

acute care inpatient facility that's providing a comparable range of — or treating a comparable range of patients." Tr. 564, 713-14, 734. The description of the services to be offered at the "satellite campus" by Luke and by Scott Eddy, one of the project's architects, resembles that found by the *St. Dominic-Madison* Court to lead to the conclusion that a new hospital was being proposed. *St. Dominic-Madison*, 928 So. 2d at 829; tr. 713-14, 734-35, 1084-85; ex. 75. Exhibit 75 includes a list of areas at the "Madison Campus" that includes surgery, imaging, nursing, laboratories, a pharmacy, therapy rooms, an emergency room, and various administrative and support space. No wonder that Noel Falls, Madison HMA's expert in health care planning and CON policy in Mississippi, testified that under the CON law and based on the testimony of St. Dominic's witnesses, the proposal in the Application is "clearly a health care facility, separate, freestanding health care facility, with all of the components of a general acute care hospital," and that he would not "know what else to call it. It's a — it's a hospital." Tr. 1262, 1267.

Regardless of St. Dominic's testimony that it intends to operate the new hospital as a satellite facility, whether or not the new hospital is considered a satellite of the Jackson hospital or a separate hospital, it is still a new hospital under the CON law. Tr.

⁵Eddy, however, did know what else to call it:

Q. Now, with regard to this facility that's being proposed in Madison, would you agree with me that what you have designed up there is a new hospital?

A. I would agree it's a building to put relocated beds in.

Tr. 1083-84. When asked "if you were going to make a new hospital, would you have drawn it any differently?" Eddy responded, "No." Tr. 1084.

1268. Falls testified that the idea that a hospital can obtain a CON for a new facility just because it is under the same license as another facility is

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